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INTRODUCTION

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Purpose and scope

This historic structure report (HSR) was commissioned by the National Park Service’s Northeast
Region Office and researched and written by EYP Architecture & Engineering. It is intended to
document the original design and construction of Buildings 8 and 10 in the Coltsville National
Historical Park and to illuminate the evolution of the two buildings up to the present time. Its
ultimate purpose is to help the National Park Service (NPS) reach informed decisions regarding the
future treatment and use of the two buildings. Its focus is limited to these two buildings. It does
not address the remainder of the factory complex or any other component of the Coltsville N
ational Historical Park.

The NPS has made it clear, however, that it is not looking for recommendations for treatment and
use of Buildings 8 and 10 in this report. Their immediate objective is to stabilize the two
structures. The NPS has judged that unless and until that goal is reached, detailed
recommendations for treatment and use are premature. EYP has already provided
recommendations for the structural stabilization of both buildings, recommendations that were
developed, in concert with the NPS, to minimize adverse effects and to maximize later
opportunities for treatment and use. Consequently, the customary Part 2, Recommendations for
Treatment and Use, is not developed in this report. Nor is a separate section describing in detail
the current condition of physical features (as opposed to their form), since, as the NPS has
determined, the critical aspects of their current condition were addressed in the structural study.’

Basis of Investigation

The report is based on site investigation of the fabric, archival material found at the Connecticut
State Library, the Connecticut Historical Society and the Hartford Public Library, on-line research,
published secondary materials, and conversations with local archivists familiar with Coltsville. Site
investigation was primarily visual. It was conducted during the winter and spring of 2017. Probes
were made only where masonry materials could be temporarily disassembled and then
reassembled by hand. No off-site analysis of materials was included in the project.

Highlights of the Historical Background

The report uses archival materials that document the historic background of Samuel Colt and the
context for the construction of the Colt Patent Fire Arms Co. in Hartford only to the extent that
they illuminate the particular character of Buildings 8 and 10. It focuses on his prior experience
with construction of an armory and with the business of production and sale of arms in Paterson,
New Jersey, an industrial district that had explored the use of steam power. A critical lesson of

his early failure was the importance of marketing, and the flexible use of the factory building in
response to changing demand. The latter involved the letting of space to sub-contractors and the
manufacture of alternative products. In between the years in Paterson and 1855, Colt also learned
the value of innovation, promotion and expertise, as evident in his deals with the British
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government and the construction of his London factory, and his cultivation of Elisha Root, Eli
Whitney Jr., and other leading engineers of the Connecticut Valley and New England.

All these factors came together in the design of Buildings 8 and 10. The report argues that Colt,
together with his master mechanic, Elisha Root, with their broad experience of forging and
foundry work, were principally responsible for the space planning of the Hartford factory, and for
guiding the form and major details of Buildings 8 and 10, if not for structural design and
ornamental detailing. They were, as is documented here, the patent holders for the drop hammers
and hearths that were central to the production of forged parts that came out of these two
buildings under their management.

Principal Features of the Original Construction

The report documents that the drop hammers were powered by steam, and argues that, given
the availability of steam power, steam-driven fans were used to draw the exhaust gases out of
the building. It describes, based on site investigation, how a network of vertical, unlined masonry
stacks and horizontal ducts were constructed within alternating masonry piers and the
entablatures of both buildings. It argues, since early photographs and illustrations show no
chimney stacks rising from the eaves above each hearth, that the ducts were linked to the original
central space between the two buildings, a store room which was provided with a major chimney.

EYP’s mechanical engineers believe that the long ducts, running the full length of each building,
could not have provided effective exhaust if driven by heat alone. We also know that Colt was in
London in 1851, exhibiting his firearms at the Great Exhibition, where a member of the Institution
of Civil Engineers exhibited a model of a steam driven exhaust fan for a colliery. Colt had
delivered a lecture to the Institution earlier that year. For all these reasons, the report concludes
that Buildings 8 and 10 were designed and constructed with a built-in exhaust system that was
likely powered by steam-driven fans. It cites contemporary reporters who commented on the
remarkably pure atmosphere that prevailed in what should have been an inferno. Site investigation
also revealed that the masonry stacks in the piers ran from just below the level of the hearths to
below grade, and the report posits that this is part of an intake air system that delivered
combustion air direct to the hearths.

These features were skillfully incorporated in what appeared at first to be standard architectural
features, the entablatures and the piers that supported them. They were so artfully concealed that
they seem to have gone unnoticed, since the connection of the hearths to the piers was noted by
the contemporary reporters.

While the large, tall column-free spaces accommodated the machinery and hearths well, and
allowed easy layout of production lines, it is noteworthy that they were also easily adapted to
other uses. The subsequent varied use of the buildings, documented in the section Changes in
Form and Use over Time, proved this.
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Developmental Changes

Although the report concludes that the original form of both buildings remains largely unchanged,
the same section identifies several features that changed within the period of significance spelled
out in the 2008 Coltsville Historic District and National Historic Landmark nomination. That period
spans from 1855 to 1945. Most readily visible is the construction of a steam tunnel the full length
of the west elevation of Building 8, and the piping through both buildings that brought steam to
the north and south armories. These were structures added in 1916 to meet the increased
demand for weapons in World War I. Also readily seen are added and enlarged doorways, infilled
window openings, a few bays reconstructed in brick, and the scars of roof structures that, starting
in the 1930s, were added to link Building 10 to nearby structures erected in the adjoining
courtyards. Less obvious changes are the two styles of metal windows that replaced the majority
of the originally wood windows, probably in the same period as the north and south armories
were built, and the extension of slate roofing over the eaves and the original built-in stone gutter.
That appears to have occurred before the major expansion of the factory complex to the west in
1861.

Character Defining Features

The report includes the exhaust flue system among the character-defining features of the two
almost identical structures, as well as their column-free space, the overall form of the two
buildings and their alignment and location within the factory complex. It identifies Portland
brownstone brick and slate as character-defining materials of the envelopes and the regular
system of window bays as defining the major elevations. The timber trusses, rafter and roofing
boards are identified as the character-defining features of the roof structure and the gabled roof as
its character-defining form. The wood frames, sash and trim in Building 10 are thought to be
original but deserving of more detailed investigation. The two forms of metal windows that fill the
bays of Building 8 date from within the period of significance given to the Coltsville National
Historical Park. While most alterations to doorways took place within the period of significance,
none of the existing doors are character-defining.

The exact locations of each type of window and doorway are located in plans attached in an
Appendix, while the variations in masonry, windows and doorways are described bay by bay, inside
and outside, in the section Physical Descripfons.

Suggested Alternate Period of Significance

The report suggests that the National Park Service may wish to identify a narrower period of
significance for Buildings 8 and 10. Both Colt and Root, the genii behind the buildings and the
armory, were dead within a decade of their construction. The report presents evidence that
forging operations had moved out of Building 10 perhaps as early as 1861 but certainly by 1885,
by the same date, a large part of Building 10 was being used for finishing, not as a foundry. While
later uses exemplify the flexibility designed into the original buildings, no traces survive of
significant or interesting alterations related to those uses.

Consequently, in listing character-defining features, this report distinguishes systematically
between those that relate only to the lengthier period of significance and those which pertain to
a proposed shorter, early period. All suggested features for both periods are linked to one or more
figures included in the preceding developmental history or physical descriptions.
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Recommendations for Treatment

The report concludes with limited observations for treatment and use that relate to the possibility
of the selection of a narrower period of significance.

Appendices

Four appendices have been attached to provide larger reproductions of plans and photographs
and illustrations, to supplement the smaller figures in the body of the report. Two more provide
copies of several pages of the work of contemporary writers who had walked through the forge,
the foundry and the rest of the original complex. They may provide material of interest to the NPS
about the larger factory complex.
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ADMINISTRATIVE DATA

NAME, NUMBER AND LOCATION DATA

=

4,'"AJ‘_ = @ ét:
g > /2
e LAy Arsgnar @XFINITY Theatce
i {aa]
7 {a4]
Aark Twain = il - 0
& Museurn & 0  XLCenter
Hartford = @
S’TE o &)
LOCATION ”‘\_\ 51} )3 5
B o PRIGST S (Z) ' A5 Rentschler Field §
Wt = %45‘ . =
O Colt Park o
Trinity College : %, .
T E'. ’- %’
B T,
.
& ! ()
r B (an) ) :
Hartford-
Brainard
Adrport
Figure AD-1 Location map of the original Colt Patent Firearms Company factory

Buildings 8 and 10 are original components of the Colt’s Patent Fire Arms Company factory, and
are now part of the larger Colt Industrial NRH District in the Sheldon/Charter Oak neighborhood of
Hartford, Hartford County, Connecticut. The original factory was bounded by Van Dyke Avenue on
the east, Sequassen Street on the north, Huyshope Avenue on the west and Weehasset Street on
the south. See figure AD-1 for the location of the factory site.

Colt Industrial Historic District, as placed on the National Register in 1976, was larger than the
original factory as it included the southward expansion of the factory to Masseek Street that had
taken place during World War 1 and the attendant closure of the east end of Weehasset Street.

It also included Colt worker and management housing built immediately to the west between
Huyshope and Van Block Avenues, from Sequassen to Masseek, Colt Park on the far side of the
housing, and finally, at the west end of the park, Armsmear, Samuel Colt’s home. In 2001, the
boundaries of the District were expanded to include later factory buildings and offices along both
sides of Vredendale Avenue, the south end of which terminates at Sequassen opposite the north
end of Building 8. This area is also known as Coltsville. Since 2014, the NR Industrial Historic
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District has been recognized as the Coltsville National Historical Park, for which the address is 140
Huyshope Avenue.

Coltsville covers 260 acres at the southern edge of downtown Hartford, Connecticut’s state capital.
It is bounded on the east by Interstate 1-91 and the Connecticut River. It falls entirely within the
06106 zip code area.

The east and south armories of the factory complex have been rehabilitated for use as schools,
residential apartments and offices. The North Armory remains unrenovated just east of Building 8,
but all other buildings between Van Dyke, Sequassen, Huyshope and Masseek have been
demolished, either in the later years of the factory or as part of the remediation of the site after it
had been designated a brownfield by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Buildings 8 and 10
now stand almost entirely isolated by parking lots serving the rehabilitated buildings. See site map,
figure AD-2.
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Figure AD-2 Site map

HISTORIC SIGNIFICANCE

The nomination form that led to the Colt Industrial District being included as a Historic District in
the National Register of Historic Places, on June 8, 1976, describes “the factory” as one
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“component” of “the manufactory established in 1848 [sic] by Col. Samuel Colt,” along with
workers’ housing and a 114-acre public park. It does not identify Buildings 8 and 10 separately,
neither in the text nor on the accompanying map of the district. Nor does it employ the terms
‘contributing’ and ‘non-contributing’ to distinguish elements that align with the established
significance of a historic district from those that don’t.

After a boundary increase for the Colt Industrial Historic District was approved in 2001, it was
included on July 22, 2008, in the Coltsville Historic District and National Historic Landmark in an
expansion of the existing nearby National Historic Landmark of Armsmear, Samuel Colt’s home,
which had been designated in 1966. On December 12, 2014, the United States Congress gave final
approval for the creation of the Coltsville National Historical Park, which includes the Coltsville
Historic District and National Historic Landmark.

The NHL nomination for the Coltsville Historic District argued that it is nationally significant
because it meets two NHL criteria: criterion one, association with events that made a

significant contribution to, and are identified with, or that outstandingly represent, the broad
national patterns of United States history, and from which an understanding and appreciation

of those patterns may be gained, and criterion five, that it is composed of integral parts of the
environment that collectively compose an entity of exceptional historic or artistic significance, or
outstandingly commemorate or illustrate a way of life or culture. The nomination asserts that the
factory complex was the site of manufacturing and business developments which made significant
contributions to broad national patterns of United States history (criterion 1), and the district is
notable as a planned industrial district that linked the factory with worker and managerial housing,
community structures, civic amenities and a recreational landscape that characterized important
aspects of American industrial development (criterion 2).2

The period of historic significance is defined in the NHL Designation as lasting from 1855 to 1945,
from the time that the company completed its first factory on the site until the end of World War
I, for which it was a major arms supplier. After 1945, the company declined and moved to new
premises in West Hartford. Significant dates are 1855, when the first factory was completed; 1867,
when the factory reopened after the East Armory was rebuilt following a significant fire; and 1916,
when the factory was significantly expanded to meet the demand for arms during the 1st World
War.?

Buildings 8 and 10 are two of the 1855 factory buildings. Building 8 is identified in the NHL
nomination as Building D, Forge Shop, where innovative drop-forging operations took place, and
Building 10 as Building F, Foundry. There is no doubt from the contemporary evidence available
that they formed part of the manufacturing development that made significant contributions to
broad national patterns of United States history, (i.e., criterion one for recognition of national
significance). There is some evidence that their plan and use was affected by, and contributed to,
the commercial innovations for which Samuel Colt is renowned.

The nomination judges that these buildings maintain their integrity of materials and workmanship.
Both are 40 feet wide and 225 feet long, each with a grade level, open and unobstructed
single-story interior and a slate-covered gable roof supported on wood trusses whose bottom
chords are about 17 feet above grade. The enclosing walls consist of regular bays of large window
openings, separated by piers of random brownstone ashlar that support an entablature of brick
between a brownstone architrave and cornice.
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Such a large, open and linear ground-level space facilitates the design of building systems and the
intake and distribution of raw materials. It also suits the installation of specialized machinery in
well-spaced rows that simplify the onward movement of parts requiring further finishing. But, at
that same time that it permits finely-tuned industrial layouts, it lends itself to rapid, economical
future reorganization.

PROPOSED TREATMENT

There is as yet no NPS general management plan for the factory buildings now included in the
National Historic Park, nor is either Building 8 or 10 on the NPS List of Classified Structures, which
typically contain brief statements of proposed treatments. The immediate purpose of the work
order, of which this historic structure report is part, is to make recommendations for the
stabilization of both structures.

The nomination states the Historic District illustrates two major themes and several sub themes
from the National Historic Landmarks Thematic Framework. These are Theme V: Developing the
American Economy: production, distribution and consumption, and Theme VI: Expanding Science
and Technology: technological applications. One sub theme relates to Theme VIII: Changing Role
of the United States in the World Community: commerce, another is “Developing the American
Economy: workers and work culture.” However, no specific recommendations have been made for
the treatment of Buildings 8 and 10.

RELATED STUDIES

GMS Associates, Inc.  Structural CondiBon Survey, Buildings 8 & 10, June 2, 2004. GMS
Associates, Inc., 730 Hebron Avenue, CT 06033

National Park Service  Coltsville Special Resource Study, November 2009. National Park Service,
Northeast Region, Division of Park Planning & Special Studies, 200
Chestnut Street, 3rd Floor, Philadelphia, PA 19106

National Park Service  Exis&ng CondiBons Survey, Building 8 and 10, Coltsville NaGonal Historical
Park, Harnord ConnecOcut, February 3 2017. EYP Architecture &
Engineering, Albany, NY, 12203

END NOTES

T National Park Service Exis®ng CondiGons Survey, Building 8 and 10, Coltsville Na©onal Historical Park, Harnord,
ConnecBcut, February 3 2017. EYP Architecture & Engineering, Albany, NY, 12203

2 National Park Service, Department of the Interior. NaBonal Register of Historic Places, NominaBon Form, Colt Historic
District, December 20th 1977, pp.21-22.
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Appendix F

Current Plans






FLOOR PLAN — BUILDING 8
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FLOOR PLAN — BUILDING 10



